THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable R. Scott. Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001480

Jane Doe

Appellant,

v.

Oconee Memorial Hospital, Greenville Health System

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Hannah Rogers Metcalfe
Courtney C. Atkinson
Metcalfe & Atkinson, LLC
1395 S. Church Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29605
Attorneys for Appellant Jane Doe

RECEIVED

FEB 13 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Appellant's Negligence Claims?
- II. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Appellant's Claims for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress?
- III. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Appellant's Complaint When Appellant's Motion to Amend her Complaint Was Still Pending?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the circuit court's July 9, 2018 Order dismissing Appellant's Complaint, along with each and every claim alleged therein by Appellant Doe, in favor of the Respondents Oconee Memorial Hospital and Greenville Health System.

Appellant Doe instituted this action by filing her Complaint on December 5, 2017, alleging that Respondents were negligent in failing to order necessary tests, in failing to properly collect and protect medical evidence of a sexual assault and in failing to ensure that the chain of custody for said evidence was maintained. Appellant also alleged a claim against Respondents for intentional infliction of emotional distress. Appellant's claims all arise out of a visit Appellant made to Oconee Memorial Hospital after she was sexually assaulted in Atlanta, Georgia and sought testing and assistance from Respondents the following morning.

Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss Appellant's Complaint on January 10, 2018, arguing that Appellant had failed to plead facts sufficient to make out both the duty and damage elements of her various claims of negligence. Respondents also argued that Appellant's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress could not be recognized under the facts of this case. Appellant filed a Motion to Amend her Complaint on June 4, 2018 and a hearing on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was held later that same day. Following that hearing, both Appellant and Respondents filed supplemental Memoranda regarding Respondents' Motion to Dismiss on June 8, 2018.

Having reviewed Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, read all submissions

from the parties and heard extensive argument from all counsel at the hearing on June 4, 2018, but without ever addressing Appellant's Motion to Amend, the circuit court filed an Order on July 9, 2018, granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Appellant's Complaint, including all claims set forth therein. Appellant then filed a Motion for Reconsideration of that Order on July 16, 2018, which was summarily denied by the circuit court on July 19, 2018. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on August 10, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court in reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible from the allegations set forth in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, entitle him to relief on any theory, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Id.*; see also *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 202, 584 S.E.2d 413, 415 (Ct. App. 2003). "The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." *Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144, 149, 714 S.E.2d 537, 539 (2011). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Doe v. Marion*, at 395, 645 S.E. 2d at 248; *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 497 (2014).

When reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the pleadings must be construed liberally, and all well

pled facts must be presumed true. *Charleston County School Dist. v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss because (1) Appellant's Complaint properly pleads claims for negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress against Respondents, (2) the lower applied the wrong standard in considering Respondents' Motion, and (3) the grant of Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Appellant's Complaint, effectively dismissing the entire action, was in error given that Appellant's Motion to Amend was still pending when the circuit court's Order was filed.

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Dismissing Appellant's Negligence Claims.

Appellant's Complaint included six causes of action. The first five causes of action are 1) negligence, failure to properly collect and preserve evidence; 2) negligence, failure to order necessary tests; 3) gross negligence, failure to properly collect and preserve evidence; 4) gross negligence, failure to order necessary tests; 5) negligent supervision. The circuit court granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss the first five causes of action in Appellant's complaint, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC, on the basis that 1) "no legal duty was owed to [Doe] in regards to the sexual assault examination kit"; and 2) Doe "failed to allege any cognizable damages." The circuit court erred as to both grounds.

A. The Respondents Had a Duty to the Appellant.

The circuit court incorrectly found that “GHS owed no duty to Plaintiff in regards to the sexual assault examination kit. Rather, the circuit court f[ound] that Respondents were performing a service on behalf of law enforcement in collecting evidence for a criminal investigation.” (R. pp. 265-266). Specifically, the circuit court ruled that GHS “was acting pursuant to statutes, ordinances, and regulations which protect the public at large, but provide no duty of care to individuals.” (R. p. 266), (citing *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 308, 501 S.E.2d 746, 752 (Ct. App. 1998) and *Austin v. Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office*, 377 S.C. 31, 659 S.E.2d 122 (2008)).

The circuit court concluded that the Respondents are exempt from liability pursuant to the public duty rule. In reaching this conclusion, the circuit court erred as a matter of law. Under South Carolina’s public duty doctrine, public officials are not liable to individuals for their own negligence in discharging public duties as the duty is owed to the public at large rather than anyone individually. *Arthurs v. Aiken County*, 338 S.C. 253, 261, 525 S.E.2d 542 (Ct. App. 1999); *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 501 S.E.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1998). Thus, where the duty is owed to the public in general, the official is not liable to an individual who may have been incidentally injured by the failure to perform the duty. *Arthurs*, 338 S.C. at 263. An exception to the general rule of non-liability exists when a duty is owed to specific individuals rather than the public only. *Id.* In this case, the Respondents’ duty was not to the general public, but to the Respondents’ patient, Jane Doe.

The public duty rule presumes the existence of statutes that create or define

the duties of a public office and have the essential purpose of providing for the structure and operation of government or for securing the general welfare and safety of the public. In this case, there is no statute that defines the duties of a hospital with regard to the treatment of rape victims. There is no statute that mandates that a hospital must conduct a sexual assault forensic examination that would subject the hospital's actions to the public duty rule. As such, the circuit court's ruling that, pursuant to the public duty doctrine, Respondents had no duty to the Appellant – an individual patient the hospital agreed to treat in exchange for compensation – is incorrect as a matter of law and must be reversed.

Next, the circuit court ruled that the Respondents are not liable because GHS “was not rendering medical services or treatment to Plaintiff”. (R. p. 266). As an initial matter, this outrageous statement – that a hospital emergency department is not providing medical care when it treats a rape victim who reports thereto for medical treatment, including the collection of evidence – involves questions of fact, which are not before the court's consideration when ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). *See Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116-17, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (200). Doe's Complaint alleges that she was receiving medical treatment from the Respondents, that she presented to the emergency department of the hospital, and that “the Hospital and GHS owed a duty to Plaintiff to ensure that she received proper medical attention.” (R. pp. 6, ¶ 20 and 9, ¶ 35). The notion that Respondents are not liable because “providing medical care for alleged or suspected injuries is a wholly separate function from gathering evidence for a sexual assault examination kit” is directly contrary to the facts

asserted by the Appellant, and as such, should have been be disregarded by the circuit court.

The circuit court's order further concludes that Respondents had no legal duty to Appellant because GHS was gathering evidence for the sexual assault examination kit "like the law enforcement agency it was acting on behalf of". (R. p. 266). There is no factual basis for this argument. Appellant's Complaint does not state that Respondents were acting on behalf of law enforcement. To the contrary, the Complaint specifically avers that Doe told GHS employees that *she* "wanted the Hospital to perform a sexual assault forensic examination and get law enforcement involved". (R. p. 3, ¶ 8). Appellant later alleges that, following the examination, Doe "affirmatively consented to the Hospital reporting the assault to law enforcement." (R. p. 4, ¶ 9). There is no allegation in the complaint that Respondents were deputized by, or acting on behalf of, the Dekalb County Sheriff's Office or any other law enforcement agency. To the contrary, the complaint reveals that the kit was collected at Doe's request alone. Only after Doe later agreed to have the assault reported to law enforcement, was law enforcement even made aware of the rape kit for the very first time.

Similarly, there is no support for the circuit court's erroneous conclusion in any statute or regulation. There is no statute or regulation that commands the Respondents to provide these services on behalf of a law enforcement agency. In fact, the South Carolina Attorney General's Sexual Assault Protocol for the Investigation, Prosecution, and Judgment of Sexual Assault, 2nd. Ed., 2015, specifically provides that "[a]ll patients should receive a comprehensive

medical/forensic evaluation by a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE).... If a SANE is not available, an emergency room physician or registered nurse may conduct the **medical**/forensic evaluation and evidence collection.” *Id.* (emphasis added). “The **medical** forensic evaluation consists of obtaining information necessary to make the appropriate decisions regarding **medical care**, forensic evidence collection and appropriate referral and follow up information.” *Id.*, at 19.

Most important for this case, and for competent adults such as Jane Doe, it is the patient who “has the right to choose whether or not she/he would like to report the assault to law enforcement.” *Id.* Thus, the hospital is conducting the medical forensic evaluation and evidence collection for the *patient* who may later choose to involve law enforcement. The patient then has the right to report the assault to law enforcement, to decline to report the assault to law enforcement, or to report the assault anonymously. Should the patient choose to report the assault or report the assault anonymously, the evidence is to be “released to the appropriate law enforcement agency.” *Id.*, at 22. In fact, for a competent adult such as Jane Doe, pursuant to the requirements of HIPAA, the federal Violence Against Women Act, the South Carolina Violence Against Women Compliance Act, S.C. Act, 59, and the South Carolina Victim’s Bill of Rights, the medical/forensic evaluation and evidence collected during treatment of a sexual assault victim cannot be shared with law enforcement unless and until the patient consents and affirmatively chooses to share this information using their own identity or anonymously. *See* Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Pub. L. No. 104-191, 110 Stat. 1936 (1996), Codified at 42 U.S.C. § 300gg and 29 U.S.C § 1181 et

seq. and 42 USC 1320d *et seq*; 42 U.S.C. §3796gg-4.b.D.d.1 (“Nothing in this section shall be construed to require a victim of sexual assault to participate in the criminal justice system or cooperate with law enforcement in order to be provided with a forensic medical exam, reimbursement for charges incurred on account of such exam or both.”); S.C. Code § 16-3-1520). Thus, the circuit court’s conclusion that Respondents were gathering evidence “[l]ike the law enforcement agency [they were] acting on behalf of”, is incorrect as a matter of law.

As a matter of fact and law, the services rendered by Respondents to Doe were done at Doe’s request as a patient before she decided whether or not to exercise her right to report the sexual assault to law enforcement. Doe’s private health information, including the evidence collected as part of the sexual assault forensic examination that she personally requested, must remain private unless and until she chooses to disclose that information to law enforcement. Thus, the *private* nature of Appellant’s personal health information completely undermines the notion that Respondents were acting on behalf of any law enforcement agency or pursuant to a public duty in following Doe’s request for a forensic medical examination.

In South Carolina, a legal duty may be created by statute, a contractual relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstances. *See Madison v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 136, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2007). The circuit court incorrectly stated that the “Plaintiff identified no statute, regulation, rule, ordinance or standard which clearly established a duty owed to her in regards to the handling of the sexual assault examination kit.” (R. p. 266). To the contrary,

as Appellant explained in her memorandum submitted to the circuit court, the Respondents owed a duty to Doe as a result of: 1) a contractual relationship; 2) a property interest; and 3) a special circumstance, namely, that the Respondents assumed a duty to the Appellant when they volunteered to provide the services rendered for compensation when performing the Sexual Assault Forensic Examination requested by Appellant.

The parties entered into a contractual relationship wherein the hospital agreed to provide services, including a sexual assault forensic examination, in exchange for compensation by the Appellant and/or her agents.¹ As such, the Respondents had a contractual duty to Appellant.

In addition to the contractual duty owed to Doe by GHS, Doe also had a property interest in the contents of the rape kit. The Appellant's bodily fluids and other specimens removed from her body are her private personal property. These items were collected from her body at her request and were entrusted to the care of the hospital, but do not belong to the hospital. The hospital was compensated by the Appellant and/or her agents in exchange for the safekeeping of her property until such time as Appellant could determine whether or not she wanted it properly handed over to law enforcement. *See, e.g., Hadfield v. Gilchrist*, 343 S.C. 88, 96

¹ Respondents contended at oral argument that they were compensated by the state's victim's assistance fund. This allegation was not alleged in the complaint and is outside the scope of consideration for the 12(b)(6) motion filed by the Respondent. Whether Respondents were paid by the Appellant directly or by a third-party payor on Appellant's behalf does not obviate the contractual relationship. While hospitals are frequently compensated for their services by third-party payors, the manner in which Respondents were compensated in this case is a disputed issue of fact. Moreover, although counsel for the Respondents argued that the Respondents are always compensated by the victim's assistance fund, the Appellant vehemently contested this statement and pointed the court to a separate action then currently pending in Greenville County, wherein it was alleged that the Respondents have a pattern and practice of billing individual victims for the provision of sexual assault forensic examinations in violation of state and federal law. *See Jane Doe v. Greenville Health System*, C.A. No. 2017-CP-23-07961.

538 S.E.2d 268 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000) (“a bailment for mutual benefit of the parties arises when one party takes the personal property of another into his or her care or custody in exchange for payment or other benefit.”). See South Carolina Attorney General’s Sexual Assault Protocol for the Investigation, Prosecution, and Judgment of Sexual Assault, 2nd Ed., 2015, attached as Exhibit A to Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 30-117).

Finally, it “has long been the law that one who assumes to act, even though under no obligation to do so, thereby becomes obligated to act with due care.” *Madison v. Babcock Ctr.*, 371 S.C. 123, 136, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (S.C. 2006); *Sherer v. James*, 290 S.C. 404, 406, 351 S.E.2d 148, 150 (1986); *Roundtree Villas Assn. v. 4701 Kings Corp.*, 282 S.C. 415, 423, 321 S.E.2d 46, 50-51 (1984). In addition, “[o]ne who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other’s person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking, if (a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or (b) the harm is suffered because of the other’s reliance upon the undertaking.” *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §323 (1965).

Respondents were not obligated to provide a sexual assault forensic examination for Appellant. There is no statutory requirement that a hospital provide these services. In fact, Respondents openly state on their own website that not all hospitals owned and operated by the Respondents provide these services at all times. See Pl. Mem. in Opposition to Def. Motion to Dismiss, Ex. B. (R. pp.

221-222). In this instance, Respondents chose to offer these services, including a sexual assault forensic examination, as part of the services provided to patients in the emergency department at the hospital. Equally as important, Respondents did not provide these services gratuitously, but were compensated for the work performed. Thus, the facts in this case are akin to any other service offered by a hospital for which the hospital receives compensation. Respondents offered to provide these services in exchange for compensation. As a result of Respondents' offering to render services, Respondents assumed a duty of care to those for whom it provides services and is liable for any harm caused as a result of any failure to take reasonable care in performing this undertaking.

For all those reasons set forth above, the circuit court erred in holding that Appellant failed to plead any duty owed to her by Respondents.

B. The Appellant Has a Cognizable Injury.

The circuit court also concluded that the complaint failed to allege a cognizable injury. Here too, the circuit court has erred. Appellant's Complaint states that Doe has suffered "damages, in addition to the loss of her ability to proceed with criminal action against her attacker, entitled Plaintiff to an award of actual and consequential damages" as a result of Respondents' negligence. *See* Complaint ¶¶ 27, 33, 43, 51, 56. (R. p. 8, ¶ 27, p. 9, ¶ 33, p. 11, ¶ 43, p. 12, ¶ 51 and p. 13, ¶ 56). The circuit court ruled that the "only reasonable inference the Court can draw from Plaintiff's allegations is that she has endured emotional distress." (R. p. 268). To the contrary, this is not the only reasonable inference the court can draw. The Complaint is silent as to the exact nature of Doe's injuries as

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