THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001480

**RECEIVED**

FEB 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Jane Doe ..... Appellant,

v.

Oconee Memorial Hospital, Greenville Health System ..... Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Kenneth N. Shaw (SC Bar 77859)  
Post Office Box 2048  
Greenville, South Carolina 29602  
(864) 240-3200  
[kshaw@hsblawfirm.com](mailto:kshaw@hsblawfirm.com)

*Attorney for Respondents*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

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

legal action. *Id.* Again, when read as a whole, it is clear from the AG Protocol, that while performing duties related to the sexual assault examination kit, a hospital is performing a legal function on behalf of law enforcement, as the sole purpose of the examination kit is to preserve evidence in case a criminal action is pursued.

Appellant further argues GHS's duty flowed from its obligation to provide medical treatment for her alleged sexual assault injuries. (App. Brief, p. 7). While GHS undoubtedly owed a duty of care in rendering medical services, Appellant has not alleged injuries stemming from those services.<sup>2</sup> Her only alleged injuries stem from her allegations that GHS negligently handled the sexual assault examination kit.

A sexual assault examination performed at a hospital has two distinct aspects – a medical aspect whereby the patient is examined and treated as necessary by healthcare professionals for physical injuries caused by the rape, and a legal aspect, whereby evidence is gathered for legal purposes. This duality is demonstrated by the fact that S.C. Code § 16-3-1350 refers to the examination as “medicolegal.” While gathering evidence for the sexual assault examination kit, GHS was not treating Appellant for any medical needs; rather, as previously discussed, it was performing a legal function on behalf of law enforcement.

Perhaps recognizing that no common law or statutory duty exists, Appellant next argues GHS owed her a contractual duty when GHS “agreed to provide services, including a sexual assault forensic examination, in exchange for compensation by the Appellant and/or her agents.” (App. Brief, p. 11). She also argues GHS owed her a duty “as a result of [her] property interest in the

---

<sup>2</sup> To the extent the allegations in Appellant's Complaint could be read to infer injuries stemming from the medical services rendered to her, her claims would sound in medical malpractice. In that case, dismissal would have still been appropriate on the basis that she failed to comply with the requirements of S.C. Code § 15-79-125.

contents of the rape kit” and “a special circumstance, namely, that the Respondents assumed a duty to the Appellant when they volunteered to provide the services rendered for compensation when performing the Sexual Assault Forensic Examination requested by Appellant.” (*Id.*) However, the Complaint lacks any factual allegations to support such arguments. The Complaint lacks any reference to a contractual relationship, nor does it contain any reference as to how, or even if, GHS was compensated for any of the services it provided. As Appellant stated in her Brief, such arguments were “explained in her memorandum submitted to the circuit court” (App. Brief, p. 11), but arguments made or facts alleged for the first time in a memorandum in opposition are not sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss, as the court, when ruling on a motion to dismiss, must confine itself to only those facts alleged within the four corners of the complaint. *See Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007); *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 67, 463 S.E.2d 97, 98 (Ct. App. 1995). Based upon the allegations actually set forth in the Complaint, the circuit court correctly found Appellant failed to plead facts sufficient to establish GHS owed her a duty of care in regards to the sexual assault examination kit.

**B. The Circuit Court Correctly Interpreted Appellant’s Claims as an Attempt to Assert a Spoliation of Evidence Cause of Action.**

The circuit court interpreted Appellant’s claims as an attempt to allege a negligent spoliation of evidence claim, which is not recognized as an independent tort under South Carolina law. *Colè Vision Corp. v. Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144, 151, 714 S.E.2d 537, 541 (2011); *see also Austin, supra* (refusing to adopt the tort of third party spoliation of evidence where plaintiff sued sheriff’s office for destroying evidence that plaintiff alleged prevented her from being able to pursue a wrongful death claim against another party).

Appellant contends she was asserting negligence claims rather than a claim for spoliation of evidence; however, that same argument was rejected by the Court in *Hobbs*. As noted by the

Court,

“Whether denominated as a claim for spoliation of evidence or as a general negligence claim based on spoliation of evidence, the substance of this claim is the same: both are based on the allegation that Cole Vision breached its duty to maintain a key document, the absence of which harmed Hobbs in the underlying lawsuit.”

*Id.* at 154, 714 S.E. 2d 537, 542 (2011).

Appellant argues the instant case is distinguishable from *Hobbs*, because Appellant’s claims were not based solely on the loss of evidence necessary for a lawsuit. As an initial matter, Appellant cites no authority for her proposed limitation of the holding in *Hobbs*. But regardless, while the Complaint contained the naked assertion that Appellant sustained “damages, beyond the inability to proceed with criminal action against her attacker,” the only facts alleged by Appellant in support of her damages claim relate to her criminal case being closed due to the lack of blood evidence and possibly due to the break in the chain in custody. (*See* Compl., ¶ 16, R. pp. 5-6.)

As noted in both *Hobbs* and *Austin*, one of the primary policy reasons for refusing to acknowledge a cause of action for spoliation of evidence is the very speculative nature of the damages. *Hobbs* at 152, 714 S.E. 2d 537, 541 (2011). Here, Appellant alleged in her Complaint the lack of a blood sample prevented the prosecution of her attacker; however, it is extremely speculative to suggest that he would have been prosecuted had the blood sample been in the kit. First off, the blood sample may or may not have revealed if Appellant was drugged, but even if it showed evidence of a drug in her system, prosecutors would still have to determine there was sufficient evidence to suggest her alleged attacker was responsible for drugging her. There is no indication whether any such evidence existed.

The “significant other damages” outlined in Appellant’s Brief (App. Brief, pg. 15) were not alleged in the Complaint, but those damages are also very speculative in nature. Appellant

contends that as a result of GHS's negligence she has been unable to confirm the identity of her attacker, and whether he achieved penetration or ejaculated while raping her. First off, her contention that the lack of a blood sample prevented her from being able to confirm the identity of her attacker appears to be in direct contrast to her allegation in the Complaint wherein she affirmatively stated she knew her attacker. (*See* Compl., ¶ 6, R. p. 3). If the allegation in her Complaint was false and she is actually unsure of his identity, that uncertainty was not in any way caused by GHS's alleged mishandling of her blood sample, as it is inconceivable how a sample of Plaintiff's blood could possibly be used to confirm someone else's identity. The same is true in regards to her allegation that it could let her know if he achieved penetration or ejaculated. If Appellant does not already know those things, a sample of her blood would not help resolve the mystery.

**C. The Circuit Court Correctly Found That Appellant Failed To Assert A Cognizable Injury.**

As previously noted, Appellant merely alleged she "suffered damages, in addition to the loss of her ability to proceed with criminal action against her attacker." (*See i.e.* Compl., ¶ 27, R. p. 8.) At the June 4, 2018 hearing, Appellant's counsel explained that the crux of Appellant's injury was the pain of not knowing for certain whether she was drugged and whether she was sexually assaulted. Again, as discussed above, such facts were not plead, but presumably those are things Appellant already knows, or they are too speculative to be cognizable damages. The only other inferable injury is emotional distress, but contrary to what she suggests in her Brief (App. Brief, pg. 15), Appellant did not allege she sustained a physical injury as a result of GHS' alleged negligence in her Complaint. As a result, the trial court correctly found the only reasonable inference to be drawn from Appellant's allegations is that she endured purely emotional distress, which is not a cognizable injury under the circumstances. *See Kinard v. Augusta Sash & Door*

*Co.*, 286 S.C. 579, 336 S.E.2d 465 (1985); *Doe v. Greenville County School Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 67-68, 651 S.E.2d 305 (2007) (limiting negligent infliction of emotional distress claims to bystander situations only).

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS DO NOT AMOUNT TO AN INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.**

For her sixth and final cause of action, Appellant asserted an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim. This cause of action further emphasizes that Appellant's only alleged injury is one of emotional distress. However, regardless of the label, Appellant's claim is unavailing, because the circuit court correctly viewed it as another attempt to assert a spoliation of evidence cause of action. *Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144, 149, 714 S.E.2d 537, 540.

However, even if analyzed as an intentional infliction of emotion distress cause of action, the circuit court was still correct to dismiss it on the basis that Appellant failed to plead facts sufficient to establish the heightened standard of proof required for an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim. *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Health, L.L.C.*, 392 S.C. 462, 475, 710 S.E.2d 67, 74 (2011) (noting higher standard of proof and enumerating elements of intentional infliction of emotional distress claim to include intentional or reckless conduct that exceeds all possible bounds of decency and causes such severe distress that no reasonable man could bear it).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held the circuit courts undertake a "significant gatekeeping role" in analyzing whether the alleged conduct was sufficiently outrageous and the emotional distress sufficiently severe to survive a motion to dismiss. *AJG Holdings LLC v. Dunn*, 392 S.C. 160, 708 S.E.2d 218 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 358, 650 S.E.2d 68, 72 (2007)). In order to establish a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, Appellant needed to have alleged that GHS employees intentionally or

recklessly conducted themselves in a manner that was “extreme and outrageous,” exceeding “all bounds of decency,” “atrocious,” and “utterly intolerable.” *See Ford v. Hutson*, 276 S.C. 157, 276 S.E.2d 776 (1981) (recognizing tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress and adopting elements set forth in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46). Appellant failed to make any such allegations.

First, nowhere in the Complaint did Appellant allege GHS employees acted with the intent to cause her severe emotional distress, nor did she allege the employees were certain or substantially certain their actions would cause her such distress. *Id.* Appellant acknowledged this deficiency when she affirmatively stated in her Brief, “[n]or is there an allegation that any employee acted in a manner that constituted actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm...” (App. Brief, p. 20.) By definition, an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim cannot exist if there was no intent to harm.

Further, while Appellant may have nakedly pled GHS’s conduct was “so extreme and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency,” that amounted to a legal conclusion, which the court was not required to accept as true. *See Dunn, supra.* In this case, the court correctly held no reasonable person could determine that following the instructions of a law enforcement officer regarding the handling of evidence of a crime could be considered “extreme and outrageous” conduct. Similarly, Appellant’s conclusory statement that she suffered such “severe emotional distress” that “no reasonable man could be expected to endure it” was factually unsupported and unavailing under the facts alleged.

Finally, the circuit court correctly held GHS would be entitled to immunity. It is undisputed that the named defendant in this action and the actual entity responsible for Appellant’s care, Greenville Health System, was, at all times relevant to this action, a governmental entity and

healthcare facility within the meaning of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, et seq. (1976, as amended), and it and its agents and employees are, therefore, entitled to all rights, privileges, defenses, limitations, and immunities afforded by the Act and afforded by the doctrine of sovereign immunity, as is retained by the Act. *See Murphy v. Richland Mem. Hosp.*, 317 S.C. 560, 455 S.E.2d 688 (1995) (citing *Benton v Roger C Peace*, 313 S.C. 520, 443 S.E.2d 537 (1994)).<sup>3</sup> Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-78-60(17), GHS has immunity for employee conduct outside the scope of his official duties or which constitutes actual malice or intent to harm. Therefore, even if the GHS employees' conduct could be said to rise to the level of "extreme and outrageous," exceeding "all bounds of decency," "atrocious," and "utterly intolerable," GHS would still be immune from liability. *See Cornelius v. City of Columbia*, 663 F.Supp.2d 471 (D.S.C. 2009).

### **III. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT IT COULD NOT ADDRESS THE MERITS OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO AMEND BEFORE GRANTING GHS' MOTION TO DISMISS.**

A trial judge's finding as to whether to allow an amendment to pleadings beyond time allowed for amendment will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has occurred. *Berry v. McLeod*, 328 S.C. 435, 492 S.E.2d 794 (1997). An abuse of

---

<sup>3</sup> In her brief, Appellant argues there is a question of fact as to whether GHS is a governmental entity. As an initial matter, Appellant did not raise the issue in her motion for reconsideration; therefore it is not preserved for appellate review. *Portman v. Garbade*, 337 S.C. 186, 189-90, 522 S.E.2d 830, 832 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Food Mart v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 322 S.C. 232, 471 S.E.2d 688 (1996)). Further, Appellant misrepresents the statement GHS made in its Reply Memorandum. As noted therein, GHS entered into an agreement with Upstate Affiliate Organization (UAO) on October 1, 2016 whereby UAO assumed operations of the hospitals while continuing to operate under the GHS name. Following the transaction, the governmental entity changed its name to Greenville Health Authority. However, all of that is irrelevant to Appellant's claims as it occurred nearly a year after her claims arose. It is undisputed that at all times relevant to this action, Oconee Memorial Hospital was owned and operated by the governmental entity, Greenville Health System.

discretion occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by some error of law or where the order, based upon the findings of fact, is without evidentiary support. *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E.2d 485 (2016).

GHS filed its Motion to Dismiss on January 10, 2018. The motion included a memorandum which fully set forth GHS's basis for dismissal. On May 3, 2018, the circuit court notified the parties a hearing on GHS' Motion to Dismiss would take place on June 4, 2018. Despite knowing the basis of GHS's Motion to Dismiss for months and having more than one month's notice of the hearing date, Appellant waited until about one hour before the start of the June 4th hearing to file her Motion to Amend. Appellant's Motion to Amend was filed without a proposed amended complaint attached, and GHS had no knowledge of the motion until Appellant's counsel mentioned it just before the start of the hearing.

Appellant argues the circuit court should have considered and ruled on her Motion to Amend before granting GHS' Motion to Dismiss, because her "Motion to Amend and proposed Amended Complaint sought to address some of the concerns raised by [GHS] regarding the sufficiency of the allegations set forth in Appellant's Complaint." (App. Brief, p. 21.) In so arguing, Appellant seems to be ignoring the fact the circuit court's Order did address Appellant's Motion to Amend. Specifically, the circuit court acknowledged the motion to amend had been filed, but held it was not properly before the court, because it had been filed just before the start of the hearing without any prior notice to GHS and without attaching a proposed amended complaint. Due to the lack of notice and without a proposed amended complaint to consider, the circuit court found it could not address the merits of the motion to amend even it wanted to.

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